STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Kershaw County
L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5907 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed May 4, 2022)

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHERWIN ALFONZO GREEN,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000923

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED
Jul 21 2022
SC Court of Appeals

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1.

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding Petitioner waived his right to a speedy trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution by voluntarily pleading guilty since a speedy trial violation is a ground that if asserted would forever preclude the state from obtaining a valid conviction against him, regardless of how much the state might endeavor to correct the defect, and therefore cannot be waived?

2.

Did the circuit court err by denying Petitioner's motion to dismiss for violation of his rights to a speedy trial as guaranteed by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution, where the unreasonable thirty-three month delay between Petitioner's arrest and his plea was caused by the state's intentional delay in order to secure Petitioner's testimony in another defendant's capital murder trial, and where Petitioner showed actual prejudice due to the state's delay in calling his case to trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 25, 2012, Petitioner and his estranged wife got into a verbal altercation at her home. R. 193, l. 16 – 194, l. 11. The altercation allegedly became physical. R. 194, ll. 9-16. When law enforcement arrived, Petitioner was arrested. R. 194, ll. 17-18. A pistol that allegedly

belonged to Petitioner was found in the house. R. 194, ll. 17-21. He was charged with domestic violence, possession of a firearm or ammunition by a person convicted of a violent felony, and possession of a stolen pistol based on these events. R. 242-246.

On December 3, 2012, after Petitioner was released on bond, he allegedly snuck into his estranged wife's home while she was away and hid in her basement. R. 195, ll. 13-23. The state alleged Petitioner planned to steal his wife's car and debit card. R. 196, ll. 2-3. After his wife fell asleep, she woke to find Petitioner sitting on top of her with a knife in each of his hands. R. 196, ll. 5-8. Petitioner allegedly held her at knifepoint for seven hours until his wife convinced him to allow her to take her children to school. R. 197, l. 22 – 198, l. 12. After she dropped her children off at school, Petitioner's wife drove to the police department and reported the event. R. 198, ll. 15-18. Law enforcement responded to her home where they found Petitioner outside. R. 198, ll. 19-21. After a chase, officers apprehended Petitioner later that day. R. 198, l. 21 – 199, l. 2. He was charged with kidnapping and first degree burglary. R. 248-252.

A Kershaw County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on May 15, 2013 for kidnapping, first degree burglary, possession of a firearm or ammunition by a person convicted of a violent felony, and possession of a stolen pistol. R. 242-252. On July 31, 2013, Petitioner filed a motion for a speedy trial pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution. R. 1-3. Petitioner requested he be tried by a jury as soon as possible "as the continued delay was causing him extreme hardship." R. 1. On July 31, 2013, a hearing was convened before the Honorable Deandra G. Benjamin to address Petitioner's speedy trial motion. R. 4. Deputy Solicitor Brett Perry represented the state. R. 4. Lir P. Derieg represented Petitioner. R. 4. Judge Benjamin granted Petitioner's motion for a speedy trial and ordered a status conference be held. R. 5, l. 24 – 6, l. 2. The judge was agreeable to delaying the status conference until the end of the year

because the trial docket was full for the remainder of the year and Court Administration had yet to publish the terms of court calendar for 2014. R. 5, l. 25 – 6, l. 20; R. 158, ll. 2-9.

On December 11, 2013, Defense Counsel Derieg wrote to the Honorable Robert E. Hood, the chief administrative judge, and requested Petitioner “be added to the list” for status conferences scheduled to be held on Friday, December 13, 2013. R. 110. In his letter, Derieg wrote Petitioner “moved for and was granted a motion for a fast and speedy trial on July 31, 2013.” R. 110. He explained that, at the hearing, Petitioner was told “his case would be scheduled at a status conference at the end of the year.” R. 110. At a subsequent hearing in 2015, defense counsel said a status conference was ultimately held by phone in December 2013. However, a trial date was not set during that status conference. R. 158, ll. 10-12.

On July 15, 2015, Petitioner filed a motion to dismiss for violation of his constitutional right to a speedy trial. R. 7-9. In the motion, Petitioner emphasized that he had been continuously incarcerated since December 4, 2012 and was being held without bond. R. 7. He asserted that he “was substantially and detrimentally damaged in that a key witness . . . whom [Petitioner] intended to call as a witness on his own behalf, has become unavailable due to the State’s delay in prosecuting his case.” R. 7. Petitioner further argued that the state was intentionally delaying prosecuting his case because they hoped to use him as a witness in a separate “high profile case.” R. 7.

On July 24, 2015, a hearing was held before the Honorable Robert E. Hood on Petitioner’s motion to dismiss. R. 19. Assistant Solicitors Joanna McDuffie, Luck Campbell, and Meghan Walker represented the state. R. 19. Lir P. Derieg represented Petitioner. R. 19. Defense counsel argued the thirty-three month delay in calling Petitioner’s case to trial violated Petitioner’s Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial. R. 22, ll. 14-21. Counsel explained that Petitioner and another inmate, Vincent Missouri, aided law enforcement by tipping officers off to

a scheme by a third inmate, Nickolas Miller, who was facing the death penalty. Miller approached Missouri and Petitioner on separate occasions while they were incarcerated and requested they kill a “witness on the outside” in Miller’s case. R. 22, l. 22 – 23, l. 18. Based on these events, Miller was charged with two counts of solicitation of a felony, one count related to Missouri and the other related to Petitioner. R. 23, ll. 16-18.

Defense counsel explained that, initially, Deputy Solicitor Brett Perry was assigned to prosecute both Missouri and Petitioner, who were arrested within a few weeks of each other in late 2012. Missouri pled guilty in early 2013 to distribution of crack cocaine with a negotiated sentence of sixty days’ time served. R. 23, ll. 19-24. Deputy Solicitor Perry likewise extended a plea offer to Petitioner in late July 2013, which Petitioner accepted. R. 28, ll. 20-25. However, before Petitioner pled guilty pursuant to the agreement, Assistant Solicitor Luck Campbell discovered the offer and Petitioner’s “case was taken away from Brett Perry and given to Ms. Campbell.” R. 23, l. 25 – 24, l. 3.

Defense counsel contended that once Petitioner’s case was reassigned to Campbell, the state “was unwilling to bring Mr. Green [Petitioner] to court either for the plea that he agreed to with Deputy Solicitor Perry back in 2013 or even to trial.” R. 24, ll. 4-8. The state’s purported reason for delaying Petitioner’s trial was to testify against Miller. R. 30, l. 17 – 31, l. 9. Counsel stated, “In fact, it was asserted to me multiple times that they [the prosecutors] weren’t going to do anything to Mr. Green [Petitioner] until after Nick Miller’s trial was over.” R. 24, ll. 9-11.

Citing to Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972), defense counsel outlined the balancing test that must be used to determine if one’s rights to a speedy trial were violated. R. 33, ll. 19-23. As to the first factor, the length of delay, counsel asserted it had been thirty-three months since Petitioner’s arrest and that case law has established “more than one year triggers the analysis to take the next step.” R. 33, l. 24 – 34, l. 6. He further argued the second factor,

whether the defendant has asserted his right to a speedy trial, had also been met. Petitioner asserted his right through counsel and his request was granted. R. 34, ll. 7-10.

Counsel explained that the third factor was the reason for the delay. He argued Petitioner “did not contribute to the delay in any way, shape, or form.” R. 34, ll. 11-13. Rather, the reason for the delay was, as discussed earlier, because the state wanted to use Petitioner as a witness against Nickolas Miller. R. 34, ll. 14-22. Defense counsel contended that the dissimilar treatment of Missouri and Petitioner demonstrated the state intentionally delayed prosecuting Petitioner. The state “intentionally held [Petitioner] back to prosecute another person [Miller].” R. 40, ll. 1-19. Counsel added that “the government allowing . . . Missouri to plead showed there was no reason to delay [Petitioner’s] case.” R. 40, ll. 15-19.

The fourth factor is prejudice to the defendant. Counsel asserted that while Petitioner suffered presumptive prejudice because of the excessive thirty-three month delay, Petitioner could also show actual prejudice as well. R. 36, ll. 16-19; R. 35, ll. 8-22. Due to the excessive delay, two of Petitioner’s witnesses, Roshita McKall and Katrina Lewis, could no longer be located to testify as to what occurred on the night of the alleged offense, nearly three years earlier. R. 35, ll. 21-22; R. 73. In addition, Petitioner had recorded conversations he had with his estranged wife during the alleged event leading to his kidnapping and first degree burglary charges. The two tapes that contained these recordings were no longer available: one was damaged and the other could not be located. R. 36, ll. 1-15.

In addition to Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972), defense counsel also cited to Doggett v. U.S., 505 U.S. 647 (1992), and State v. Buckner, 292 Ga. 390, 738 S.E.2d 65 (2013). R. 37, ll. 1-24.

Assistant Solicitor Joanna McDuffie acknowledged that Petitioner “did give information regarding Nicholas Miller towards the midpart of December of 2012” and, as a result, “he was

moved [from the Kershaw County Detention Center] to Alvin S. Glenn [Detention Center in Richland County on] December 27th, 2012.” R. 43, ll. 18-23. Petitioner was originally represented by the Public Defender’s Office. R. 43, ll. 24-25. Because Petitioner’s appointed public defender refused to file a motion for a speedy trial, Petitioner filed such motions *pro se*. R. 44, ll. 3-6. Lir Derieg was later “appointed due to a conflict with the Public Defender’s Office because of Nicholas Miller.” R. 44, ll. 7-9.

The assistant solicitor acknowledged Derieg filed a motion for a speedy trial on July 31, 2013. R. 44, ll. 22-24. However, she claimed there was no record of the motion ever being heard. R. 44, l. 25 – 45, l. 25. Perhaps this was caused by confusion as to which judge heard the motion. R. 44, l. 25 – 45, l. 4. Regardless, the motion was heard by Judge Benjamin on July 31, 2013, and she orally granted Petitioner’s motion for a speedy trial at the conclusion of the hearing. R. 5, ll. 24-25.

Assistant Solicitor McDuffie maintained the reason for the delay in prosecuting Petitioner was because the state was unsure if Petitioner was going to testify against Miller, who had been served with notice of the state’s intent to seek the death penalty. R. 33, ll. 10-11; R. 46, l. 15 – 47, l. 15. She asserted, “It was always represented by Mr. Derieg [defense counsel] to our office that this defendant [Petitioner] did want to cooperate. He did want to testify against Nicholas Miller. He did want to hopefully receive some benefit for that testimony and cooperation, and that he would wait until the Nicholas Miller case was over before his charges were disposed of.”¹ R. 47, ll. 10-19. The solicitor explained that Miller’s case was originally scheduled for trial on

¹ The assistant solicitor further argued that a letter Petitioner wrote to the circuit court where Petitioner complained the solicitor was delaying his trial, was a concession from Petitioner that he “agreed” to wait until Miller’s case was resolved before his case was prosecuted. R. 50, ll. 8-23. However, nothing in the language quoted by the solicitor indicated Petitioner waived his right to a speedy trial. Rather, the letter was Petitioner asserting the state’s wrongful delay of his trial. R. 55, l. 25 – 56, l. 12.

September 8, 2014. R. 44, ll. 15-16. However, due to complications related to former Chesterfield County Sheriff Sam Parker, the trial date was delayed until February 9, 2016. R. 46, l. 24 – 47, l.9. Miller ultimately pled guilty on March 14, 2015. R. 47, ll. 16-17. After Miller pled guilty, McDuffie maintained Luck Campbell “noticed Petitioner for trial for the week of” June 26, 2015. R. 47, ll. 17-19. However, Derieg was “protected that week in June” and requested the trial be continued until July, which was done. R. 47, l. 23 – 48, l. 1.

As far as prejudice caused by the delay, the assistant solicitor said she was unaware of the existence of a second tape containing any alleged recordings. She maintained there was no mention of a second tape on the return from the search warrant nor were there any photographs of a second tape taken during the execution of the warrant. R. 49, ll. 3-12. Regarding the potential defense witnesses, the solicitor argued Petitioner failed to present any evidence of an attempt to contact these individuals before “July of this year [2015].” R. 49, l. 13 – 50, l. 2.

By order filed July 29, 2015, Judge Hood denied Petitioner’s motion to dismiss based on a violation of his right to a speedy trial. R. 145-147. Initially, the judge determined that while Petitioner filed a motion for a speedy trial on July 31, 2013, it was never heard nor ruled upon. R. 145-146. Again, this erroneous finding is likely due to the confusion regarding which judge heard the motion. Defense counsel mistakenly stated Judge Hood heard the motion when it was actually Judge Benjamin. See R. 4-6.

Judge Hood further found Petitioner “sought to gain some benefit for cooperation in testifying against Nickolas Miller, and chose not to have his charges disposed of until after Mr. Miller’s case was resolved.” App. 146. The judge maintained the state attempted to call Petitioner’s case for trial three months after the disposition of Miller’s case, but “at that time it was defense counsel who delayed proceedings further” by moving “for a continuance due to a scheduling conflict.” R. 146. Moreover, Judge Hood determined Petitioner did not present any

evidence on how the length of time prior to trial contributed to Petitioner's inability to procure witnesses. R. 147. After "considering a variety of factors to include, the length of delay, the reason for the delay, the defendant's assertion of his right, and prejudice to the defendant," the judge found Petitioner's right to a speedy trial was not violated. R. 147. Consequently, he denied the motion to dismiss. R. 147.

On September 3, 2015, Petitioner filed a second motion to dismiss for a violation of right his to a speedy trial. R. 148-150. A hearing was convened on September 28, 2015 before the Honorable L. Casey Manning. R. 154. Assistant Solicitors Meghan Walker and Luck Campbell represented the state. R. 154. Lir P. Derieg represented Petitioner. R. 154. Defense Counsel Derieg explained the history of the case for the benefit of Judge Manning. R. 155, l. 13 – 159, l. 8. Counsel argued that Judge Benjamin did grant Petitioner's speedy trial motion on July 31, 2013. R. 157, l. 2 – 158, l. 9; See R. 5, l. 3 – 6, l. 2. He explained that a status conference was ordered by Judge Benjamin, but delayed until the end of the year at the state's request. R. 158, ll. 2-18. Defense counsel also informed the court that both of the continuances he requested were not Petitioner's fault and Petitioner had "no control" over them. R. 158, l. 19 – 159, l. 3. The first continuance was because defense counsel had suffered an injury to his knee that required medication "where the doctor said [he] wasn't allowed to appear in court." R. 158, ll. 19-23. The second was for a cell phone expert to extract text messages off Petitioner's phone. R. 158, l. 24 – 159, l. 3.

The state argued Petitioner's motion to dismiss for violation of his speedy trial right was a violation of Rule 4, SCRCrimP, because Judge Hood had already denied Petitioner motion in a written order from July 27, 2015. R. 172, ll. 5-19. However, defense counsel argued he had new evidence to present since Judge Hood's ruling, specifically, he was able to confirm Petitioner's

motion for a speedy trial was heard and ruled upon by Judge Benjamin on July 31, 2013. R. 173, ll. 13-22.

At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Manning denied Petitioner motion to dismiss presumably pursuant to Rule 4, SCRCrimP. R. 174, ll. 3-6. He found Rule 4 precluded Petitioner from making another motion to dismiss when Judge Hood denied the motion two months earlier. R. 172, l. 20 – 174, l. 6. Since Judge Manning relied on Rule 4, his ruling was based on Judge Hood's erroneous finding that Petitioner's speedy trial motion was never ruled upon. See R. 5, l. 24 – 6, l. 2.

On September 29, 2015, the following day, Petitioner pled guilty to kidnapping, second degree burglary (nonviolent), possession of a firearm or ammunition by a person convicted of a violent felony, and possession of a stolen pistol. R. 179, l. 24 – 189, l. 18. Judge Manning found there was a substantial factual basis for the plea and that Petitioner's decision to plead guilty was freely, voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently made. R. 201, ll. 8-15. Judge Manning sentenced Petitioner to twenty years for kidnapping, fifteen years for burglary in the second degree, and five years for each of the weapon offenses. R. 209, l. 23 – 210, l. 6. All sentences were ordered to be served concurrently with credit for 1059 days' time served. R. 210, ll. 5-20.

On October 9, 2015, Petitioner filed a motion to reconsider his sentence. R. 211. On June 20, 2016, Petitioner filed an amended motion to reconsider his sentence. R. 213. On August 15, 2017, a hearing was on held on Petitioner's motions before Judge Manning. R. 216. Assistant Solicitors Luck Campbell, Joanna McDuffie, and Meghan Walker represented the state. R. 216. Lir P. Derieg represented Petitioner. R. 216. By order filed March 7, 2019, Judge Manning again denied Petitioner's motion to dismiss for violation of his right to a speedy trial. R. 236-237. However, the judge granted Petitioner's motion to reconsider his sentence and resentedenced Petitioner to an aggregate twelve years' imprisonment. R. 236-237.

Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal. In a published opinion filed on May 4, 2022, the Court of Appeals held Petitioner waived his right to a speedy trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution when he voluntarily pled guilty. State v. Green, 436 S.C. 492, 872 S.E.2d 869 (Ct. App. 2022). In its opinion, the Court of Appeals noted that “South Carolina does not appear to have specifically addressed whether a defendant waives a speedy trial claim when he pleads guilty.” Id. at ___, 872 S.E.2d at 870. On May 19, 2022, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing. By order dated June 6, 2022, the Court of Appeals denied rehearing.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding Petitioner waived his right to a speedy trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution by voluntarily pleading guilty since a speedy trial violation is a ground that if asserted would forever preclude the state from obtaining a valid conviction against him, regardless of how much the state might endeavor to correct the defect, and therefore cannot be waived.

An accused is entitled to a speedy trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and under Article 1, Section 14, of the Constitution of South Carolina. See Klopfer v. North Carolina, 386 U.S. 213 (1967) (applying the right to a speedy trial as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution to the states); State v. Waites, 270 S.C. 104, 240 S.E.2d 651 (1978). “A speedy trial means a trial without unreasonable and unnecessary delay.” State v. Hunsberger, 418 S.C. 335, 342, 794 S.E.2d 368, 371 (2016) (citing State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 441, 735 S.E.2d 471, 482 (2012); See

Wheeler v. State, 247 S.C. 393, 400, 147 S.E.2d 627, 630 (1966). “The remedy for a speedy trial violation is dismissal of the charges.” Id. (citing Langford, 400 S.C. at 442, 735 S.E.2d at 482).

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