RECEIVED

Sep 13 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Kershaw County
Honorable L. Casey Manning, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-000923

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

SHERWIN ALFONZO GREEN,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Just as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized and held, Green waived any issue he may have had with the propriety of the circuit court judges' rulings on his motions seeking dismissal for a purported violation of his constitutional speedy trial rights by subsequently entering unconditional guilty pleas to a variety of charges.

Green maintains the Court of Appeals was wrong when it found his entry of guilty pleas waived his ability to appeal the circuit court judges' rulings denying his pre-plea motions seeking dismissal based on a purported violation of his speedy trial rights. As support for that contention, Green maintains his *assertion* of a violation of his constitutional speedy trial rights would forever preclude the State from obtaining a valid conviction and, therefore, his claim of such a violation could not be waived by pleading guilty. To the contrary, Green's speedy trial claim was not jurisdictional in nature, and, as a result, Green could and did waive that claim when he entered valid guilty pleas to a variety of criminal offenses. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals correctly rejected Green's attempt to appeal the circuit court judges' speedy trial rulings following Green's entry of his guilty pleas because that claim had been waived. Green's petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

When charged with a crime, a criminal defendant may choose to—and has a right to—enter a guilty plea to the offense. State v. Armstrong, 263 S.C. 594, 597, 211 S.E.2d 889, 890 (1975). By entering a guilty plea in South Carolina, a criminal defendant admits all elements of the charged offense, waives all other non-jurisdictional defects and defenses, and leaves open for review *only* the sufficiency of the indictment. State v. Thomason, 341 S.C. 524, 526, 534 S.E.2d 708, 710 (Ct. App. 2000); see State v. Snowdon, 371 S.C. 331, 333, 638 S.E.2d 91, 92 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Generally, a knowing and voluntary guilty plea waives all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses, including claims of constitutional violations.”). As a result, “[a] defendant who pleads

guilty usually may not later raise independent claims of constitutional violations.” Gibson v. State, 334 S.C. 515, 523, 514 S.E.2d 320, 324 (1999). In fact, once a guilty plea has been entered, nothing remains but for a circuit court judge to enter judgment against the defendant and determine the appropriate punishment for the admitted crime. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969) (“A plea of guilty is more than a confession which admits that the accused did various acts; it is itself a conviction; nothing remains but to give judgment and determine punishment.”); see also State v. Sims, 423 S.C. 397, 400, 814 S.E.2d 632, 633 (Ct. App. 2018) (“Few principles of South Carolina criminal law are as ingrained as the notion that a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent guilty plea constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and claims of violations of constitutional rights.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)).

In the case sub judice, Green sought for his case to be dismissed based on an alleged violation of his speedy trial rights, and, after analyzing and weighing the facts and circumstances before him, Judge Hood, who was the first circuit court judge to consider the speedy trial dismissal request, rejected Green’s claim of a constitutional violation and found Green’s speedy trial rights had not been transgressed. Thereafter, Green reasserted his claim to another circuit court judge a few weeks later, and that circuit court judge—Judge Manning—also rejected Green’s speedy trial claim. At that point, Green chose to waive his constitutional rights, including his right to trial, and unconditionally plead guilty, and his validly-entered guilty pleas were properly accepted by Judge Manning.¹³

¹³ Demonstrating the unconditional nature of Green’s guilty pleas, Green did *not* improperly condition those pleas on anything, including on an ability to appeal the circuit court judges’ denials of his speedy trial claims, but, instead, unreservedly admitted his guilt with no conditions attached. Cf. State v. Downs, 361 S.C. 141, 146, 604 S.E.2d 377, 379-380 (2004) (finding Downs’s guilty plea was unconditional because Downs “never attempted to reserve the right to later deny his guilt”).

Because he unconditionally admitted his guilt and entered his guilty pleas, Green waived any non-jurisdictional defects and defenses he may have had in his case. See Vogel v. City of Myrtle Beach, 291 S.C. 229, 231, 353 S.E.2d 137, 138 (1987) (“A plea of guilty constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and defenses, including claims of violations of constitutional rights prior to the plea. It conclusively disposes of all prior issues *including independent claims of deprivations of constitutional rights.*” (emphasis added and citations omitted)). Critically, amongst the claims waived by his act of pleading guilty, Green—just as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized—waived his ability to challenge the propriety of the circuit court judges’ rulings on his speedy trial claim since such a claim was *not* jurisdictional in nature.¹⁴ See

¹⁴ In arguing he can properly appeal the denial of his speedy trial claim despite the fact he subsequently pled guilty, Green primarily relied upon—and continues to rely upon—the United States Supreme Court’s decision in Class v. United States, ___ U.S. ___, 138 S. Ct. 798 (2018). Importantly though, the decision in Class involved the exercise of federal supervisory authority and, thus, was not controlling as to state court criminal procedures. See Class, 138 S. Ct. at 803 (“The question is whether a guilty plea by itself bars a *federal* criminal defendant from challenging the constitutionality of the statute of conviction on direct appeal.” (emphasis added)); see also Murphy v. Florida, 421 U.S. 794, 797-798 (1975) (“Noting that the jurors had been exposed to information with a high potential for prejudice, this Court [in Marshall v. United States, 360 U.S. 310, 311-312 (1959)] reversed the conviction. It did so, however, expressly ‘(i)n the exercise of (its) supervisory power to formulate and apply proper standards for enforcement of the criminal law in the federal courts,’ and not as a matter of constitutional compulsion. In the face of so clear a statement, it cannot be maintained that Marshall was a constitutional ruling now applicable, through the Fourteenth Amendment, to the States.” (citation omitted)). Moreover, looking to the nature of his appellate argument, Green is seeking to be able to appeal rulings on a speedy trial claim, which, notably, is a claim that does *not* preclude a case from going forward merely by being asserted and, instead, only leads to dismissal *if* a violation is determined to have occurred following the weighing and balancing of a number of relevant factors concerning case-related conduct. See Hunsberger, 418 S.C. at 342-343, 794 S.E.2d at 371-372 (recognizing the evaluation of a speedy trial claim involves analyzing a number of factors to determine whether a speedy trial violation has been established and instructing the merits of such a claim fall within the trial judge’s discretion); see also Ortberg v. Moody, 961 F.2d 135, 138 (9th Cir. 1992) (explaining a claim of a speedy trial claim does *not* “challenge the authority of the state to hale [a criminal defendant] into court” and, thus, such a constitutional claim is waived through the entry of a guilty plea); United States v. Curcio, 712 F.2d 1532, 1539 (2d Cir. 1983) (stating a “defendant who has been convicted on a plea of guilty may challenge his conviction on any constitutional ground that, *if asserted* before trial, would forever preclude

Washington v. Sobina, 475 F.3d 162, 166 (3d Cir. 2007) (“[T]he right to a speedy trial is non-jurisdictional, and is therefore waived by an unconditional and voluntary guilty plea.”); Speed v. United States, 518 F.2d 75, 77 (8th Cir. 1975) (“[I]t is well settled that a plea of guilty waives any claim to denial of a speedy trial.”); Griffin v. State, 604 S.E.2d 155, 156 (Ga. 2004) (“Having voluntarily entered a plea of guilty, appellant cannot raise as a defense his right to a speedy trial.”); Anderson v. State, 577 So. 2d 390, 392 (Miss. 1991) (explaining the “right to a speedy trial, whether of constitutional or statutory origin[,]” is waived by entry of a guilty plea and identifying numerous state and federal decisions reaching the same conclusion); State v. Walker, 600 S.W.3d 891, 893 (Mo. Ct. App. 2020) (“[A] defendant’s voluntary and knowing guilty plea bars any claims he or she may have that are based on either statutory or constitutional guarantees of a speedy trial.” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); Village of Montpelier v. Greeno, 495 N.E.2d 581, 582 (Ohio 1986) (“[C]ontentions that speedy trial violations may be

the state from obtaining a valid conviction against him, regardless of how much the state might endeavor to correct the defect” (emphasis added)); People v. Egbert, 68 Cal. Rptr. 2d 913, 915 (Cal. Ct. App. 1997) (“[T]he weighing process required to establish a constitutional speedy trial violation necessitates consideration of prejudice to the accused in the particular context of the case. By pleading guilty, a defendant concedes the absence of prejudice, having admitted all matters essential to the conviction.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)). As a result, the decision in Class, which only addressed the narrow question of whether a federal defendant could appeal a conviction due to the alleged unconstitutionality of the statute it was based on, did not establish Green’s current claim related to *case-related government conduct* that occurred before he pled guilty could properly be appealed following the entry of a valid guilty plea. See Class, 138 S. Ct. at 803 (“A valid guilty plea . . . renders irrelevant—and thereby prevents the defendant from appealing—the constitutionality of case-related government conduct that takes place before the plea is entered.”). Thus, like the denial of an immunity claim or a claim seeking dismissal for a violation of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act, Green’s non-jurisdictional speedy trial claim could be—and was—waived by his choice to plead guilty in a South Carolina state court, which is exactly what the Court of Appeals correctly held on appeal. Cf. Sims, 423 S.C. at 402, 814 S.E.2d at 634 (“Sims’ statutory immunity claim warrants no exception to the rule against conditional pleas and the key role it plays in ensuring the finality of judgments.”); State v. Tucker, 376 S.C. 412, 418, 656 S.E.2d 403, 406-407 (Ct. App. 2008) (holding Tucker waived any and all claims related to a violation of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers Act, which would require dismissal if violated, by entering a valid guilty plea).

raised on appeal following a guilty plea have been widely rejected by federal and other state authorities.”); Smith v. State, 871 P.2d 186, 188 (Wyo. 1994) (“Constitutional challenges to pretrial proceedings, including speedy trial violations, are non-jurisdictional defenses.”); see also People v. Sanders, 137 Cal. Rptr. 3d 830, 836 (Cal. Ct. App. 2012) (“In criminal proceedings, the essence of a speedy trial issue or a due process claim based on delay is that the passage of time has frustrated the defendant’s ability to defend the allegations against him. The weighing process required to establish a constitutional speedy trial violation necessitates consideration of prejudice to the accused in the particular context of the case. By pleading guilty, a defendant concedes the absence of prejudice, having admitted all matters essential to the conviction. . . . In essence, a defendant who pleads guilty after the court denies a motion to dismiss for a speedy trial violation waives the right to a speedy trial. Thus, a guilty plea forecloses a defendant from asserting on appeal a claimed violation of the constitutional right to a speedy trial.” (citations, brackets, and internal quotations omitted)).

Accordingly, because Green waived all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses—including his allegation of a violation of his speedy trial rights—by entering his guilty pleas, the issue of whether the circuit court judges abused their discretion or otherwise erred when ruling on Green’s speedy trial dismissal motions could not appropriately be considered or addressed on appeal, which is exactly what the Court of Appeals correctly determined in Green’s case. See Whetsell v. State, 276 S.C. 295, 297, 277 S.E.2d 891, 892 (1981) (“[G]uilty pleas, freely and voluntarily entered, act as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses, including the claims of a violation of a constitutional right prior to the plea.”); see also United States v. O’Donnell, 539 F.2d 1233, 1237 (9th Cir. 1976) (concluding O’Donnell waived his ability to validly raise a constitutional speedy trial claim on appeal by entering a guilty plea and

explaining: “The protections afforded by the Fifth and Sixth Amendments are different [from those afforded by the Double Jeopardy Clause]. Their purpose is to insure that factual guilt is validly established. That is, their purpose is to guarantee that the accused’s right to a fair trial is not substantially prejudiced by either pro- or post-accusation delays. The existence of such violations is consistent with guilt as a matter of fact. If guilt can be validly established such violations are not logically inconsistent therewith. While such violations preclude the establishment of guilt by trial, that is the extent of their reach. The establishment of guilt by a proper plea is not condemned by these protections.”), superseded on other grounds as recognized by *United States v. Smith*, 60 F.3d 595 (9th Cir. 1995); cf. *State v. Rice*, 401 S.C. 330, 333, 737 S.E.2d 485, 486 (2013) (holding Rice, who was a juvenile at the time of his offense, could not appeal an order transferring his case from family court to the court of general sessions after entering a guilty plea because such an order was not jurisdictional in nature and, thus, any claimed error Rice wished to appeal “would be a judicial error—not a jurisdictional error”). Green’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

II.

The merits of Green’s appellate claim of a constitutional speedy trial violation should not be considered or addressed on certiorari at the present time because: (1) the Court of Appeals has not yet addressed the merits of Green’s speedy trial issue in light of its conclusion the issue was waived by Green’s entry of guilty pleas; and (2) Green did not include any arguments concerning the merits of his speedy trial claim in his petition for rehearing.

In addition to contending the Court of Appeals erred by finding he waived his ability to validly appeal the merits of the circuit court judges’ rulings on his claim of a speedy trial violation by pleading guilty, Green—as a separate and distinct question presented on certiorari—contends the circuit court judges incorrectly denied his dismissal motions because his constitutional speedy trial rights were purportedly violated. Significantly though, the Court of Appeals did *not* address the merits of Green’s appellate claim of a speedy trial violation due to its conclusion the issue was waived by Green’s entry of guilty pleas. Beyond that, Green did *not* raise any arguments to the Court of Appeals in his petition for rehearing concerning the merits of his claim of a speedy trial violation and, instead, only asked the Court of Appeals to reconsider its decision not to consider the merits of that claim. Under such circumstances, the merits of Green’s speedy trial claim should not be considered or addressed on certiorari at the present time, and, instead, the matter should be remanded to the Court of Appeals in the event—and only in the event—Green’s other contention in his petition for a writ of certiorari was somehow correct. Green’s petition for a writ of certiorari should be denied.

Pursuant to our state’s appellate court rules, “[o]nly those questions raised in the Court of Appeals *and in the petition for rehearing* shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari as a question presented to the Supreme Court.” Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR (emphasis added). Meanwhile, this Court generally does not consider an issue on certiorari unless that issue was first considered and addressed by the Court of Appeals. Baggott v. S. Music, Inc., 330 S.C. 1, 6,

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